
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee

Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Thursday, 4 June 2020 at 7.30 pm when 
the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how 
Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A on the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 - Update (Pages 11 - 18)

This report is for information only and provides an update on the 
Council’s activities in relation to its statutory duties to prevent and relieve 
homelessness since the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 on 3 April 2018.

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


6. Temporary Accommodation Update (Pages 19 - 24)

To provide Members of the Committee an update on the Council’s 
statutory duties in relation to the provision of temporary accommodation 
to homeless households, following the implementation on the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 on 3 April 2018.

7. Out of Borough Placements (Pages 25 - 30)

To provide an update on customers that have been assisted with 
relocation to settled homes outside of the Gravesham area

8. Coronavirus: Cabinet Portfolio Impact (Pages 31 - 46)

To provide an overview of the impact of the Coronavirus (Covid-19) 
pandemic upon the practical delivery of Housing Services.

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Wednesday, 12 February 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Dakota Dibben
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle
Brian Francis

Note: Councillor:  Leslie Hills was also in attendance

Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations)
Wale Adetoro Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management)
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

22. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Colin Caller and Cllr Brian Francis attended 
as his substitute.

23. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee held on 12 
November 2019 were signed by the Chair.

24. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

25. Allocations Policy Review 

The Chair advised that the Borough Council’s Allocations Policy had not been reviewed 
since 2014 and this report was the start of wider consultation on proposed changes. Time 
had proved that the existing policy was not as effective as it could be and working within the 
confines of the available Council housing stock the greatest concern the Council had was 
not to raise false hopes for applicants of the register. The proposed Allocations Policy gives 
greater emphasis to housing needs and, with the rise in homelessness, there had never 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 12.02.2020

2

been greater need than at the present time. The current policy could create unnecessary 
barriers for households most in need of social housing.

It was essential that the Council continued to help those in greatest need whilst making best 
use of the limited stock.  The two year local connection was proposed to be extended to 
three as the Council felt that local residents must come first.

The Policy would also be in line with Objective 1 of the Corporate Plan (2019-23) - People - 
as the Housing Allocations Policy would help ensure the commitment to provide a proactive, 
supportive and financially efficient housing service - giving high quality tenant management 
experienced through a service making full use of its assets.

The Council needed to achieve the fairest allocation with its limited stock and to ensure that 
tenants and residents understood the revised Policy once approved.

The Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) reported that approval was sought 
for the review of the Council's Housing Allocations Policy and the commencement of wider 
consultation on the proposed changes to the Policy. The proposed changes to the Housing 
Allocation Policy were to ensure that it reflected changes in legislation, guidance and good 
practice and the redraft provided a comprehensive housing allocation scheme which would 
reflect how the Council would assess and prioritise the high demand from applicants for the 
limited supply of social housing, to make best use of the stock available and deal with urgent 
housing needs e.g. homelessness. An officer consultation had been undertaken and the 
feedback had resulted in the changes proposed to the policy and this would be put out to 
public consultation with the objective of final approval of the Policy in September.

The Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) stated that there were seven 
significant changes proposed to the Policy:

1. Definition of qualifying local connection criteria – this would include the simplification 
of the local connection criteria and the length of connection (residence or 
employment in the Borough) would also be increased from two to three years without 
break although there would be some exceptions to this. Applicants needing to move 
into the Borough to give or receive care would be excluded from the local connection 
criteria and instead included within the exceptional circumstances category, so that 
each case could be considered on its particular merits.

2. Sanctions for refusing an offer of social housing – most applicants would be entitled 
to receive two offers and could refuse one property without sanction, with a second 
refusal resulting in a six month suspension from the Housing Register. The proposal 
was to increase the suspension from the register from six months twelve months, 
with all suspensions being subject to an appeals process.

3. Simplification of the priority banding awarded on medical grounds – there were 
currently 4 categories A to D and it was proposed that this be changed to 2 bands A 
and C. Band A where there was an evidenced urgent need to move on 
medical/mobility/disability grounds and whose current housing has serious and life 
threatening impact on them and Band C where there was an evidenced 
medical/mobility/disability need for a move and whose housing presents non-life 
threatening impact on them. The assessment process would remain the same.

Page 4



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 12.02.2020

3

4. Simplification of the priority banding awarded on overcrowding grounds – it was 
proposed to simplify the priority awarded on the grounds of overcrowding to Band B 
where the household had two or more bedrooms fewer that they needed and Band C 
where the household was lacking one bedroom.

5. Definition of Band D priority – Band D priority was to be changed to include only 
those applicants assessed as needing sheltered housing.

6. Enhancement of the priority banding awarded to homeless households – all 
homeless households would be moved to Band B. However, Members were advised 
that this was not a way of getting housing “though the back door”. All homeless 
applicants would be entitled to a relief duty for 56 days which would be used to focus 
on securing alternative accommodation, and a rehousing duty would only be 
accepted once the relief duty had expired.

7. Simplification of the priority banding awarded to under occupying tenants – it was 
intended to prioritise tenants who had volunteered to downsize to a smaller property 
and move them from Band B to Band A.

The Chair asked Members to comment on each of the proposals in turn.

Definition of qualifying local connection criteria

 An element of flexibility was requested. For example, a resident could live in the 
Borough for 10 years, move out of the Borough for 3 years, move back again and 
then have a housing need arise. Consideration needs to be given to how the 
eligibility of such applicants would be considered under the local criteria.

Sanctions for refusing an offer of social housing

 Following a question on the timescale for appeals, the officer confirmed that an 
appeal against suspension from the Housing Register following a refusal would be 
considered almost immediately following the refusal of a property by an applicant.

 A question was raised on moving applicants to other parts of the country and 
Members were advised that such an offer tended to involve homeless applicants who 
were unable to afford local properties, could not afford local private sector rents and 
did not qualify for social housing. The applicants would be made aware of all the 
options including those in other parts of the country. These were only offers but were 
sometimes the only option open to an applicant.

Simplification of the priority banding awarded on medical grounds

 It was noted that professional medical advice was usually sought where appropriate. 
The current banding structure allowed for Band A – high medical priority – where the 
current housing was seriously affecting a member of the household with a life 
threatening condition, or had a major adverse effect on a medical condition which 
warranted emergency priority, Band B – medium medical priority – where the current 
housing had a major adverse effect on a medical condition and Band C – low medical 
priority – where the current housing had an adverse effect on a medical condition 
creating a particular need for a move. Band D would mean no medical priority.

Page 5



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 12.02.2020

4

 Following a question on whether mental health issues were prioritised, the Assistant 
Director (Housing Policy & Management) explained that if the applicant’s current 
housing had an adverse effect or had been the cause of a mental health issue 
creating a particular need for a move, that that person might be prioritised.

Simplification of the priority banding awarded on overcrowding grounds

 An issue regarding waiting time was raised in relation to growing families who, for 
example, might have applied for a 2 bedroom dwelling having two very young 
children, and having been on the Housing Register for some time, now needed a 
three bedroom property. The officer was asked if, having notified the Council of their 
changing needs, the waiting time would have to start again. The Director (Housing & 
Operations) advised that the Council did not operate a ‘waiting list’ but a Housing 
Register and applicants were prioritised for housing on the basis of housing need. It 
was noted that the statistics contained in the report in relation to ‘waiting’ times were 
a guide but the average letting times shown could be skewed by a single case that 
had been on the Register and had not moved for many years, for example the 
presence of an 11 year ‘waiting’ time as seen on Table 6 of the report.

Definition of band D priority

 The Committee was advised that the Council did not change applicant’s bands 
unless there was a change in the needs of the household. If within 6 months, an 
applicant had not placed a bid for a property, they would be taken off the Register 
and sent a letter. Unless the applicant confirmed to the Council that they wanted to 
stay on the Register, they would remain removed from it.  This was a way of checking 
that applicants were still searching for accommodation.

 Following a question on whether people have to renew their application for housing 
annually, Members were advised that applicants do not have to renew the application 
but were asked to maintain contact with the Council.

 It was noted that Table 1 on page 5 of the report should have a zero inserted in line P 
instead of there being a blank space.

Enhancement of the priority banding awarded to homeless households

 Following a question on how the enhancement of the priority banding awarded to 
homeless households would affect other applicants on the Register, the officer 
replied that it would depend on the level of need. The priorities were being reviewed 
to make best use of the Council’s limited housing stock.

Simplification of the priority banding awarded to under occupying tenants

 An observation was made that some tenants who wanted to downsize also wanted to 
stay in their locality and whilst Members understood that it was difficult to meet 
everyone’s needs, it was hard to explain this to tenants. The Assistant Director 
(Housing Policy & Management) explained that officers would always look at the 
circumstances and would then work within the Council’s limited resource balanced 
against the growing demand. The Director (Housing & Operations) added that it was 
hoped that the proposed changes would help to achieve the most equitable way of 
allocating housing, to assist in speeding up the process, and to not give false hope to 
applicants who had a very low chance of being housed. 

Page 6



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 12.02.2020

5

It was noted that the date 25 March 2020 on pages 8 and 23 of the report should read 12 
February 2020.

Members thanked officers for all their hard work on this process.

Following a question on the public consultation, the Director (Housing & Operations) advised 
that it was hoped that the public consultation would result in a wide range of feedback. It was 
considered that the proposals made the separations much clearer which would ensure that 
the Council’s limited housing stock would be offered to those most in need. 

Resolved that:

(a) the proposed changes to the Allocations Policy, as set out in Appendix 2 
of the report, be agreed for public consultation; and 

(b) the commencement of a wider public consultation on the proposed 
changes to the Council's Housing Allocations Policy be agreed.

26. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 3 2019/20 

The Committee was presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter 3 2019/20 
(October to December 2019). It was noted that this was the first report since the adoption of 
the new Corporate Plan. 

The Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) went through each of the Policy 
Commitments contained in the appendix to the report and the following points were raised:

1. Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property 
standards, empty homes and homes in multiple occupation (HMOs).

 A few properties had been closed by the Council, approximately five that the 
Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) was aware of, because they 
had been deemed as being unsafe.  Officers also worked with the Community 
Safety Unit, the Police and the Border Force UK on this issue as the residents 
that lived in such properties tended to be very vulnerable.

 As a result of a successful bid for Government funding, an additional officer had 
been bought in to join the team. The Assistant Director (Housing Policy & 
Management) undertook to bring a report on this subject to the next meeting of 
the Cabinet Committee.

 Following a question raised on a report on empty homes, Members were advised 
that the number of empty homes brought back into use were now lower than 
previously given the good performance of the Council over the last couple of 
years and a report would come to this Cabinet Committee if and when there was 
anything to report.

2. Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: High 
quality tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its 
assets.

 Members noted the good results achieved by the Council and the sheltered 
housing challenges. The Committee was advised the sheltered housing client 

Page 7



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 12.02.2020

6

group often had needs unique to each individual and often required Occupational 
Therapy (OT) recommendations to be sought which in turn meant it took time to 
make the dwelling habitable. The OT Service was the responsibility of the Kent 
County Council. Sheltered housing was not as popular as it used to be and was 
difficult to let and the Council would continue to market these properties as 
effectively as possible. The officer undertook to bring a report on sheltered 
housing to a future meeting of the Committee.

 The Committee was advised that the Private Sector Disabled Facilities Grant 
assessments were funded via a central government grant and was a means 
tested grant.

3. Safeguard Residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative 
interventions that support the most vulnerable.

 The Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) advised that the 
process of administering Disabled Facilities Grants within the Council had 
undergone some changes over the last three years and that the applications 
were undertaken quickly and efficiently by the Borough Council. Whilst delays 
could sometimes occur, these were not on the parts of the process within the 
remit of the Council and were sometimes due to applicants not providing the 
required information or the manufacturing timeframe of equipment.

4. Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the 
standard and efficiency of local housing.

 The Committee noted that a great deal of good work had been undertaken by 
the Direct Services Organisation (DSO) especially in relation to responsive 
repairs. The Council had worked towards an award in this area of work and 
had been selected as finalists. The workforce had also been increased to 
bring services in house to reduce the reliance on external sub-contractors 
which resulted in £119k savings as the Council was now able to complete 
more work for less money.

 The Director (Housing & Operations) advised that many Members had visited 
Brookvale and that the Assistant Director (Housing Assets), the Service 
Delivery Manager and the team had worked to introduce cutting edge 
innovations within the operation. It was also highlighted that the Council was 
performing at 100% on the two performance indicators in this section.

 Members commended the work of the DSO.
 The Chair noted that the Council was ahead of the recommendations 

contained in the Hackitt Report on the independent review of building 
regulations and fire safety in relation the installation of fire sprinkler systems 
within the Council’s blocks of flats.

Resolved that the report be noted.

27. Corporate Register of Partnerships - Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee Extract 

The Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) advised that this was an annual 
report that provided details of the Council’s involvement in partnerships that fell within the 

Page 8



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 12.02.2020

7

remit of the Committee. The details of all eight partnerships were listed including the new 
Sanctuary Partnership which assisted single rough sleepers, as set out on page 43 of the 
report. This service had initially been open for 3 nights a week, but now the charity was able 
to open 6 nights a week from October to March. The services provided by the Sanctuary 
were mainly for local people and strict rules of use applied. Members’ attention was drawn to 
an error in the report (page 45) in that Abbeyfield was now named Rapport.

The following points were raised during discussion on this subject:

 The Chair advised that the Council paid for the Sanctuary’s utilities and the DSO 
donated labour and some contractors had also donated equipment.

 Following a question on how many housing associations served the Borough, 
Members’ attention was drawn to page 45 of the report which set out the partnership 
arrangements but did not include all the housing associations in the locality.

 It was noted that there were no formal partnership arrangements with health 
services. However, the Council had regular contact with the local Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) which was located at the Civic Centre.

 Members were advised that housing associations were subject to the rules enforced 
by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG).

 It was highlighted that the Council’s Housing Partnerships Manager did a marvellous 
job pursuing energy deals for the Council and was also the Chair of the Kent Energy 
Efficiency Partnership.

Resolved that the report be noted.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.52 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Cabinet Committee

Date: 04 June 2020

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing)
Lynn Wilders, Housing Needs & Improvements Manager

Subject: Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 Update 

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report is for information only and provides an update on the Council’s activities in 
relation to its statutory duties to prevent and relieve homelessness since the implementation 
of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 on 3 April 2018.

Recommendations:
1. For information only

1. Background

1.1 The primary legislation which sets out the local authority’s duties, powers and 
obligations towards people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness is 
the Housing Act 1996. The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 amended the 
statutory duties by introducing new homeless prevention and relief duties with a  
service to all eligible applicants, not just those who are assessed as 
unintentionally homeless and who have a priority need.

1.2 Since the Homelessness Reduction Act came into force on 3 April 2018, all local 
housing authorities are required to work with residents at risk of homelessness at 
an early stage to prevent homelessness from occurring, by providing advice and 
assistance to help the customer to remain in their current accommodation, and 
where this is not possible, by assisting them to secure a planned move into 
alternative accommodation

2. Prevention Duties

2.1 Where a person is threatened with homelessness within the next 56 days, the 
duty arises to make an assessment of the applicant’s circumstances. This 
includes identifying the reasons for the threat of homelessness, assessing the 
housing needs and any support needs of all members of the household and 
providing a detailed personalised housing plan which clearly sets out the 
reasonable steps to be taken by the applicant and the local authority to prevent 
homelessness. The duty to prevent homelessness continues for 56 days, unless it 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

is brought to an end by an event such as accommodation being secured for the 
household, or by their becoming homeless.

2.2 Customers are given details of various advice leaflets which are also available on      
the Council’s website. The leaflets include helpful advice for specific groups such 
as Armed Forces Veterans, Care Leavers, Domestic Abuse Victims, Mental 
Health, Prison Leavers and Young People. There is also advice to help deal with 
certain situation, such as dealing with debts, finding private rented 
accommodation, harassment and illegal eviction, repairs and adaptations, 
mortgage arrears, Section 21 Notices and tenancy deposits.  

2.3 Also available is a booklet produced by, Kent Housing Group  entitled  ‘Moving On 
or  Moving In’ which contains advice on how to look for private rentals, where to 
get benefit advice and how to budget as well as covering landlord’s and tenant’s 
rights and responsibilities. 

2.4 These advice and information leaflets are available to customers accessing our 
website for advice about homelessness before they complete the online form 
which triggers a referral to the housing options team. Customers can also access 
the housing options service by email to housingneedsteam@gravesham.go.uk by 
telephone on 01474 337759 or by calling in to the duty desk at the Civic Centre 
which is open on weekdays between 9.00am to 4.00pm except for Wednesday, 
when the desk opens at 1.00pm.

3. Relief Duties

3.1 Where homelessness prevention activities have been unsuccessful, or the 
customer is already homeless when they present to the local authority, they will be 
owed a duty to relieve their homelessness for 56 days. This duty applies 
regardless as to whether the customer has a priority need or may have become 
homeless intentionally, provided that they are eligible in terms of their immigration 
status. Again, the main relief activity is to secure a move into alternative 
accommodation, including providing financial assistance towards any deposit or 
rent in advance that may be required if the applicant has insufficient  means to do 
so.

3.2 For those homeless customers that meet any of the priority need criteria, for 
example those with dependent children or those who are vulnerable due to 
significant physical or mental health conditions or disabilities, the council will be 
under a duty to provide interim accommodation for the 56 day period that the relief 
duty applies. This could be within Gravesham’s own general needs temporary 
accommodation housing stock, a bed and breakfast placement or a self-contained 
unit on a nightly paid basis with a private provider of temporary accommodation, 
depending on what is available on the day that it is required. 

3.3 Due to the demand for accommodation and limited availability within the borough, 
customers that are placed with private providers of temporary accommodation 
may be offered accommodation outside the borough. This will usually be in 
neighbouring boroughs across Kent, and customers will be moved back into 
alternative temporary accommodation within the borough once a suitable vacancy 
occurs, unless we our duty to accommodate comes to an end.

3.4 Once the 56 day relief duty period has passed, a decision is made as to whether 
the customer is owed the main housing duty - essentially the main housing duty 
will apply if the customer has a priority need for accommodation and has not 
become homeless intentionally. Where the main housing duty is owed, the 

Page 12



3

customer will be placed into Band C on the council’s housing register and will be 
able to bid for social housing properties under the current Allocations Policy. If the 
customer has an outstanding debt to the Council, for example rent or council tax 
arrears, their ability to bid may be suspended until a suitable repayment plan has 
been set up and regular payments towards the debt have been made for at least 6 
months, or the debt is repaid in full.

3.5 The main housing duty can also be discharged by way of an offer of housing in 
the private rented sector. Temporary accommodation will continue to be provided 
until the duty is discharged, unless the applicant becomes homeless intentionally 
from their temporary accommodation, for example because of rent arrears or anti-
social behaviour. Applicants in Band C will usually be waiting for some time before 
receiving an offer of social housing and could spend several years in temporary 
accommodation unless a suitable home in the private sector is secured. 

4. Performance

4.1 The table below sets out the number of households that approached the housing 
options service and the breakdown of Prevention, Relief and Accepted cases in 
2019/20:

2019/ 2020
Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Total

Number of homelessness approaches to the 
council (all enq rec) 357 428 306 393 1484
Number of households prevented from being 
homeless during prevention stage 51 71 48 41 211
Number of households securing alternative 
accommodation during relief duty stage 24 9 16 23 72
Accepted duty 13 7 7 9 36

4.2 Of the 1,484 households who approached the council during 2019/20, a total of 
283 were prevented from being homeless or otherwise assisted in securing 
alternative accommodation, with a further 36 cases where the main housing duty 
was accepted. The remainder include customers who received advice to resolve 
their difficulties, those who disengaged from the service, and those whose 
approach did not trigger any prevention or relief duties.

Page 13



4

Qtr 1
2019/ 2020

Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4
0

100

200

300

400

500

Number of homelessness approaches to the council (all enq rec)

Number of households prevented from being homeless during prevention stage

Number of households securing alternative accommodation during relief duty stage

Accepted duty

2019/20

4.3 Number of households approaching the housing options service and the 
breakdown of Prevention, Relief and Accepted cases in 2018/19:

4.4 Of the1,648 households who approached the council during 2018/2019, a total of  
226 were prevented from being homeless or otherwise assisted in securing 
alternative accommodation, with a further 56 cases where the main housing duty 
was accepted. The remainder include customers who received advice to resolve 
their difficulties, those who disengaged from the service, and those whose 
approach did not trigger any prevention or relief duties.

Page 14



5

5. Duty to Refer

5.1 As of 01 October 2018, certain public authorities now have a duty to notify the 
local housing authority if they are assisting a service user who is homeless or 
threatened with homelessness. These include authorities include Prisons, Youth 
Offender Institutions, Secure Training Centres, Probation Services, Job Centre 
Plus, Social Services, Emergency Services, Urgent Treatment Centres and  
Hospitals. 

5.2 Public authorities can and do refer customers who are homeless or threatened 
with homelessness directly via a dedicated inbox dutytorefer@gravesham.gov.uk 
or by contacting the housing options team directly by telephone.

5.3 The housing options team receive an average of 10 duty to refer cases each 
month, with the main referral agencies being Jobcentre Plus, Probation and 
Prison Services. Referrers can indicate the urgency of the case, for example 
where there is an imminent discharge from hospital or release from prison, an 
urgent assessment can be undertaken and if the customer has a priority need, 
suitable accommodation can be arranged to coincide with their return to the 
community to prevent homelessness.

5.4 The following tables set out the number of Duty to Refer cases received from 
October 2018 to March 2020: 

Page 15



6

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 None

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 16



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The Council's statutory duties to prevent and relieve homelessness arise pursuant 
to the Housing Act 1996 as amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

Finance and Value 
for Money 

n/a

Risk Assessment n/a

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
n/a

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
n/a

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Corporate Objective 1 - People
Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service

Crime and Disorder The implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act contributes to addressing 
crime and disorder by recognising the need for advice, assistance and 
accommodation at an earlier stage so that homelessness can be more effectively 
prevented or relieved

Digital and website 
implications

     

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Providing more assistance to those households that may be intentionally homeless 
or without a priority need helps in ensuring the safeguarding of children and 
vulnerable adults.

Page 17

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Cabinet Committee

Date: 04 June 2020

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing)
Lynn Wilders, Housing Needs & Improvements Manager

Subject: Temporary Accommodation Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Housing Committee an update on the Council’s statutory duties in 
relation to the provision of temporary accommodation to homeless households, following the 
implementation on the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 on 3 April 2018.

Recommendations:
1. For information only

1. Background

1.1 The statutory duty to provide temporary accommodation to certain homeless 
households arises from the Housing Act 1996 which requires local housing 
authorities to secure that accommodation is available for an applicant (and their 
household) if they have reason to believe that the applicant may be homeless, 
eligible for assistance and in priority need.

1.2 The duty to provide temporary accommodation continues throughout the 56 day 
period that the local housing authority is subject to a homelessness relief duty 
pursuant to the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, unless the relief duty is 
brought to an end, usually  by the provision of a settled housing solution or where 
the applicant becomes homeless intentionally from the accommodation provided.

1.3 The local housing authority can exercise a discretionary power to provide 
temporary accommodation in some circumstances, for example where a review of 
an adverse decision has been sought or the applicant needs further time to secure 
alternative accommodation.

2. Temporary accommodation provision

2.1 The Council maintains a portfolio of approximately 65 -70 units of general needs 
housing stock which is designated for use as temporary accommodation. This 
currently includes 43 studio or one bedroom properties, 11 two bedroom 
properties, 12 three bedroom properties and 1 four bedroom property. However, 

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



2

due to demand for temporary accommodation for homeless households, and the 
limited availability of family sized properties, external private sector providers of 
temporary accommodation offer an alternative solution on a nightly paid basis, 
although many of these properties are situated in neighbouring boroughs across 
Kent. 

2.2 In addition, where the Council responds to homelessness that occurs outside the 
usual working week, our out of hour’s service will place customers in emergency 
accommodation until they can be assessed by the housing options team on the 
next working day. These emergency placements will usually be in bed and 
breakfast accommodation or with one of our private sector providers.

3. Temporary accommodation reduction plan

3.1 In November 2018 a temporary accommodation reduction plan was implemented 
to reduce the reliance on expensive nightly paid accommodation, particularly for 
larger families. 10 units of two and three bedroom general needs housing were 
added to the temporary accommodation portfolio, and 20 households who had 
been living in temporary accommodation for more than 2 years were given an 
offer of social housing by way of a direct let.

3.2 As a result of these measures, and more pro-active homelessness relief activities, 
the numbers of households in temporary accommodation had declined from a 
peak of 111 in April 2019 (including 44 in nightly paid accommodation, of which 17 
placements were outside Gravesham) to 74 at the end of March 2020 (including 
just 7 in nightly paid accommodation, of which 3 placements were outside 
Gravesham).

3.3 The reduction in the use of nightly paid temporary accommodation has made a 
significant financial difference; for example the monthly spend on this this type of 
temporary accommodation was approximately £12,000 in Jan 2020 compared to 
approximately £52,000 in April 2019.

3.4 Moving forward, it is anticipated that the use of expensive nightly paid temporary 
accommodation will continue to reduce as a result of early intervention and 
homelessness prevention activities.

4. Households in TA from 2019/20

4.1 The following table and graph show the number of households in temporary 
accommodation on the last day of each month, broken down into those placed in 
GBC housing stock and those in nightly paid accommodation:

Total in TA from 2019/20
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

GBC 
stock

67 67 70 67 66 58 55 61 62 66 69 67

Nightly 
paid

44 41 33 28 20 22 24 16 12 9 10 7

Total 111 108 103 95 86 80 79 77 74 75 79 74

Page 20



3

67 67 70 67 66
58 55

61 62 66 69 67

44 41
33

28
20 22 24

16 12 9 10 7

111 108
103

95
86

80 79 77 74 75 79
74

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

GBC stock
Nightly paid
Total

Number of Households in Temporary Accommodation 
Year 2019/20 

4.2 For comparison, the number of households in temporary accommodation on the 
last day of each month, broken down into those placed in GBC housing stock and 
those in nightly paid accommodation during 2018/19 are given in the table below:

Total in TA 2018/19
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

GBC stock 60 62 62 62 63 61 64 65 67 67 67 67
Nightly 
paid

11 19 25 31 30 33 33 34 25 22 31 39

Total 71 81 87 93 93 94 97 97 92 89 89 106

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 None

Page 21



4

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 22



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The Council has a statutory duty to provide temporary accommodation to priority 
need households pursuant to the Housing Act 1996 as amended by the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

Finance and Value 
for Money 

n/a

Risk Assessment n/a

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
     

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Corporate Objective 1 - people
Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service

Crime and Disorder      

Digital and website 
implications

     

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

     

Page 23

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Committee

Date: 04 June 2020

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing)
Lynn Wilders, Housing Needs & Improvements Manager

Subject: Out of Borough Placements

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an update on customers that have been assisted with relocation to settled homes 
outside of the Gravesham area.

Recommendations:
1. For information only. 

1. Background

1.1 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 introduced new duties to prevent and 
relieve homelessness, including to  those customers assessed as not being in 
priority need who were previously only given advice about how to secure 
accommodation

1.2 In August 2018, the Government announced their strategy to halve rough sleeping 
by 2022 an end it by 2027. This has subsequently been updated to a more 
ambitious target to end rough sleeping in England by the end of 2025. In June 
2019, the Council appointed a Rough Sleeper Initiative Co-ordinator to deliver 
homelessness prevention and relief duties to rough sleepers and those at risk of 
sleeping rough in Gravesham.

1.3 As the demand for social housing far exceeds the supply, with most applicants on 
the housing register waiting for many months or years before receiving an offer, 
the private sector rental market can provide a quicker route into settled 
accommodation for homeless applicants 

2. Private Rented Sector

2.1 Securing a move into settled accommodation during the relief duty stage can be 
problematic, due to the scarcity of affordable housing in the local area. A snapshot 
survey of properties advertised on Right Move in December 2019 found that there 
were no properties available at the Local Housing Allowance rate, meaning that 
customers in receipt of Universal Credit would have a shortfall between the 

Page 25 Agenda Item 7



2

amount awarded for their housing costs and their potential rental liability. The 
table below shows the distribution of properties advertised at that time (with rental 
costs shown per calendar month):

Private rental properties in Gravesend advertised on Right Move on 13.12.19

Rent pcm One bedroom 
(LHA = £556.63 
pcm)

Two bedrooms
(LHA= £703.47 
pcm)

Three bedrooms
(LHA= £778.53 
pcm)

Up to £600 2
£601 to £700 17
£701 to £800 15 7
£801 to £900 23 1
£901 to £1,000 16 5
£1,001 to 
£1,100

1 6

Over £1,101 20

2.2 Of those properties identified in Section 2.1, there were: 

2.2.1 34 x one bedroom self-contained properties (32 flats + 2 houses, average 
rent £700 pcm (range £595 to £800 pcm)

2.2.2 47 x two bedroom self-contained properties (26 flats + 21 houses, average 
rent £892 pcm [average for flat £866 pcm, average for house £925 pcm] 
(range £775 to £1,050 pcm)

2.2.3 32 x three bedroom self-contained properties (3 flats + 29 houses, average 
rent £1,160 pcm (range £875 to £1,680 pcm)

2.3 Although officers work with local private landlords and letting agents, it is 
increasingly difficult to secure accommodation for customers who are not working 
and/or have no-one to act as guarantor to cover their rent liability. We therefore 
need to look further afield for suitable accommodation to prevent or relieve 
homelessness. 

2.4 All customers that approach the housing options service for advice are given 
information about the cost and availability of suitable local accommodation and 
the impact this has on the likelihood of being able to secure alternative local 
accommodation. Customers are therefore also made aware of the need to 
consider looking further afield than their immediate neighbourhood to secure 
settled housing, and as a last resort, to consider rehousing opportunities outside 
the borough including the North East of England.

2.5 Between April 2019 and March 2020 we secured settled accommodation in the 
private rented sector within Gravesham for 13 customers, including:

2.5.1 6 x homeless prevention cases

2.5.2 4 x homeless relief cases

2.5.3 3 x main housing duty cases

Page 26



3

2.6 In addition, we secured settled accommodation in the private rented sector for 24 
customers (none of which were owed the main housing duty) outside the 
Gravesham borough as follows: 

2.6.1 3 x homeless prevention cases- (3 in Kent outside of Gravesham)

2.6.2 7 x homeless relief cases- (4 in Yorkshire, 1 in London, 2 in Kent other 
than Gravesham)

2.6.3 9 x Cold Weather Project placements (customers accessing the Winter 
Night Shelter) -  (1 in Essex, 8 in Yorkshire)

2.6.4 5 x Rough Sleeper Initiative placements- (1 in Essex, 1 in Birmingham, 3 in 
Yorkshire)

2.7 Whilst there are very few affordable housing opportunities in Kent, there is an 
abundance of good quality housing available in the North East of England and we 
have successfully relocated 15 homeless households to Yorkshire in 2019/20.  
This includes a number of single people at risk of rough sleeping and some 
families who became homeless intentionally and were not therefore owed the 
main housing duty. Customers are given advice and information about their 
options for rehousing and are able to make an informed choice to relocate, with 
assistance given with travel and removals arrangements.

2.8 We work primarily with Cedar Housing, who manage a large portfolio of properties 
in the Bradford, Leeds and surrounding areas and have expertise in the allocation, 
relocation and integration of customers that are referred to them by local housing 
authorities throughout London and South East England.

2.9 The services provided by Cedar Housing include:

2.9.1 Properties available at the Local Housing Rate (LHA) for the area they are 
situated and are offered with the relocation package detailed below: 

2.9.2 Full 24-month Assured Short hold Tenancy  – secured at LHA rate for the 
duration of the AST without the need for references or guarantor 

2.10 In addition to this, Cedar also provide support with Benefit applications, school 
applications, GP and dentist referrals, local amenity support, food parcels, grants 
for white goods, signposting to outside organizations, single beds per bedroom, 
job seeking workshops and tenancy sustainment.  Cedar do have a promotional 
video available to view online, details of which can be circulated to Members 
should they wish.  

2.11 Before a referral is made, the housing options officer will complete a risk 
assessment to identify any potential difficulties or support needs which are then 
shared with the housing provider to ensure that ongoing support is available. Any 
agencies currently working with the customer such as Probation or CGL will align 
with their counterparts in Yorkshire to ensure continuity once they have relocated. 
We assist with travel costs and provide a supermarket voucher to ensure that 
customers can access essential supplies once they arrive.

2.12 Before a referral is made, the housing options officer will complete a risk 
assessment to identify any potential difficulties or support needs which are then 
shared with the housing provider to ensure that ongoing support is available. Any 
agencies currently working with the customer such as Probation or CGL will align 

Page 27



4

with their counterparts in Yorkshire to ensure continuity once they have relocated. 
The Council do assist with travel costs and provide a supermarket voucher to 
ensure that customers can access essential supplies once they arrive

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 None

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 28



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The Council's statutory duties to prevent and relieve homelessness arise pursuant 
to the Housing Act 1996 as amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

Finance and Value 
for Money 

n/a

Risk Assessment n/a

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
     

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Corporate Objective 1 - People
Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service

Crime and Disorder      

Digital and website 
implications

     

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

     

Page 29

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Cabinet Committee 

Date: 04 June 2020

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Coronavirus: Cabinet Portfolio Impact

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an overview of the impact of the Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic upon the 
practical delivery of Housing Services.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only. 

1. Background

1.1 The Covid-19 pandemic has had the most profound impact on the daily lives of 
UK residents of any event this century; significant societal restrictions on 
movement and association, coupled with intense harm to the national economy 
through the enforced closure of businesses and an inevitable loss of jobs.

1.2 Collectively, the impact of Covid-19 is one of significant damage to the health and 
wellbeing of the Gravesham community and, equally, presents a substantial 
challenge to the future sustainability of the council and its essential frontline 
community services. 

1.3 On 12 May 2020, a report was considered by Council outlining the social and 
economic impact the pandemic has had upon the Gravesham community and 
providing details of the council’s comprehensive community support offer during 
the period. At that meeting, Council unanimously put on record its gratitude to all 
those involved across all sectors in the outstanding response to the global Covid-
19 pandemic and, equally, expressed condolences to those who have lost loved 
ones in this tragic event. 

1.4 This report aims to provide a focus on the Housing portfolio in regards to the 
practical impact of the pandemic and, specifically, to provide clarity on what new 
policies or amended working practices were established in order to adapt to what 
was, and continues to be, a rapidly evolving challenge.

Page 31 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Legislation 

2.1 In order to provide the powers needed to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic, and 
to properly enable delivery against its already announced guidance at that point, 
the Coronavirus Act 2020 was enacted on 25 March 2020 as the Government’s 
main legislative vehicle. 

2.2 For district councils, a total of 39 new or amended powers and duties were 
created through the Act, providing a framework within which to operate and shape 
a local response. 

2.3 In regards to the Housing portfolio specifically, the following provisions were 
introduced that directly impact upon the following services.

Service Provision Impact

Housing 
Income

Residential 
Tenancies, 
Protection from 
Eviction Schedule 29 
makes provision about 
notice periods in 
relation to possession 
proceedings in 
respect of certain 
residential tenancies.

This Direction meant that all cases that 
were listed for Hearings were 
adjourned by the Court. A total of 18 
cases were adjourned.  Although Court 
action is not a considered to be a 
positive action, it is required to be in 
place for tenants who continually fail to 
maintain a payment agreement 
towards rent arrears or who do not 
engage in our efforts to work with them 
to come to an affordable repayment 
arrangement. Each case costs the 
Council £325 to list and so, without a 
Hearing, these costs are currently 
unrecoverable. The relevant tenants 
have been contacted to offer further 
opportunities to remedy the rent 
arrears situation. In total, 7 evictions 
have been cancelled and will be 
rescheduled when the embargo is 
potentially lifted on 25 June 2020.  
Unfortunately the tenants have not 
engaged any further with the Council 
and it is likely that all of these cases 
will go court as previously planned.

Housing 
Management- 
Shears 
Green 
Community 
Hall

Powers Relating to 
Events, gatherings 
and Premises 
Schedule 22

Shears Green Community Hall was 
closed as of week commencing 23 
March 2020.  The Hall had minimal 
bookings and therefore being closed 
had little financial impact.

Page 32



3

3. Practical Impact & Performance

3.1 Following updated government advice we are continuing to actively manage our 
response to Covid-19 and we have worked hard to keep essential services 
running and to keep both tenants and the workforce safe.  

3.2 Appendix 2 outlines what steps we have had to take as a landlord in response to 
the impact Covid-19 has had on dealing with tenants but also keeping our 
properties maintained, safe and secure. 

3.3 The Workforce across all areas of Housing have reacted positively and have 
continued to show real commitment during this difficult time continuing to offer all 
of our essential service effectively with the majority working from home.  
Feedback from tenants has also been positive and they have fed back their 
appreciation for us reaching out to them and also for us still running our essential 
services

3.4 In its response to Covid-19, the corporate Management Team moved quickly to 
introduce a dedicated suite of performance indicators. The aim was to enable 
early and targeted intervention and redirection of resources where it was needed 
to any critical services identified as underperforming. 

3.5 In consideration of the practical challenges for the Housing portfolio relevant 
performance monitoring as part of this suite involved can be found at Appendix 3.

3.6 Outside of this operational suite, in order to maintain delivery against the council’s 
Corporate Plan, monitoring against the adopted Performance Management 
Framework has been maintained throughout. Members will subsequently be 
presented with the latest quarterly report for consideration.

4. Next Steps

4.1 Over the coming weeks and months we will be transitioning to a ‘new normal’ as a 
social landlord and will keep up to date with Government advice and best practice.  
The Covid-19 crisis has ignited some thoughts and discussions in regards to how 
our tenants can access our services and how this can be improved.  

4.2 We will also be considering how to carry out a range of activities in line with the 
Government’s advice and guidance on social distancing such as conducting 
viewings and tenancy sign-ups.  We currently have limited online offering for our 
tenants and work has already started to identify which services could be delivered 
online. As an example, smart phones have recently been ordered to enable 
Housing Officers to carry out virtual viewings of properties. 

4.3 On 18 May 2020 the Government issued a letter from the Minister of Housing 
setting out the measures that are in place to support social housing residents 
during the next phase towards reopening society.  A copy of the letter can be 
found at Appendix 4.  A copy of the letter can also be found on the council’s 
website for those who may not receive it directly.

4.4 We anticipate that we will have measures in place to deliver a ‘new normal’ in 
terms of our services by 1 July 2020.

Page 33



4

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 Report to Full Council.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 34



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The Coronavirus Act 2020 is the Government’s main legislative change in
response to the pandemic. Most of its provisions came into effect on 25 March 
2020, but detailed further legislation in the form of statutory instruments, and 
government guidance have been issued since that date and continue to be 
published. This is identified at section 2 to this report. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

As highlightwed within the report at Appendix 2, rent loss is likely to be between 
£250,000 - £300,000.
There has also been additional expenditure required due to Covid-19 however to 
date this has been funded from the money allocated to the Council in dealing with 
Covid-19.

Risk Assessment We continue to assess the risks involved with Covid-19 in order to manage and 
mitagate as well as keeping up to date with Government guidelines. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
     

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan N/A

Crime and Disorder N/A

Page 35

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 36



Appendix 2- Practical Impact of Covid-19

Moving- At the start of lockdown all non-essential allocations and transfers were paused unless they met certain criteria, such as overcrowding or to free up temporary accommodation. 7 properties were let during 
this period.  The restrictions have now been lifted and people are able to move if they can move safely and are not shielding because they are in the clinically extremely vulnerable group.  There are currently 31 
people waiting to be moved, 23 where the properties are ready to let and 8 that are still going through the void process.

Paying Rent- Plans were put in place to support people whose income, or ability to leave home, is affected by coronavirus. This covered people who are self-employed, who are forced to take time off work at a 
reduced wage to self-isolate or look after a family member and also looking at people who are over 70 and who are unable to get out to make payments due to self-isolation.  There was not a rent freeze or rent 
holiday but tenants have been allowed to put a manageable plan in place and advice in terms of benefits and universal credit has been given. Officers are currently working with colleagues in Finance to model the 
financial impact in terms of rental loss.

Vulnerable Tenants- We recognised that we had an opportunity to extend our support to over 900 households who we had identified as vulnerable.  The Repairs Administration team made contact with those 
identified to confirm what support network was in place as well as any food or medical needs.  Those with little to no support network or in need were then referred to the Corporate Community Hub for support.

Housing 
Tenants

Contact with the Council Tenants have been signposted to the council’s website to make rent payments as the offices are closed.  Before any council employee visits that are undertaken, a tenant is asked a 
series of questions in relation to Covid-19 and social distancing before the visit takes place

Planned improvement programmes- On the 23 March, the kitchen, bathroom, roofing, doors & windows and cyclical decoration programmes were put on hold. The electrical testing and upgrade programme 
continued as normal.  As the restrictions have now been eased we are now working on commencing the planned work programmes.  The in house kitchen and bathroom teams will be focused on clearing the 
backlog of responsive repair work before the 2020-2021 programme is started.

Aids & Adaptations- Since lockdown we have been working closely with Occupational Therapy to establish the most high risk cases to ensure this work is prioritised and undertaken where required.  This 
approach will continue in the coming months.

Servicing- Servicing progressed as normal across all programmes ( apart from domestic lifts due to the vulnerabilities of the tenants).  Gas servicing compliancy figure has continued at 100% compliant.

Repairs- During the Covid-19 situation attending emergency repairs has been our main priority but also dealing with priority repairs.  This is where an appointment is not an emergency as there is not an immediate 
risk to life or property, but will have a significant impact on the resident or property if we do not attend in the near future.  The Repairs Team has been working closely with Sheltered Housing and Housing 
Management to identify these type of repairs depending on individual circumstances. There is currently a backlog of repairs waiting to be carried out (439 as of 21 May 2020) and the team is currently working on 
the best way to programme these in.

Maintenance of our estates- We have continued as normal with an increased focus on priority tasks such as keeping the communal areas clean and tidy, disinfecting key touch points and ensuring the bins are 
out for collection on time.  We are also inspecting external and internal communal areas to make sure they are free of hazards, such as bulk rubbish and stored items. There has been a reduction in the 
workforce due to a current vacancy but also a number of staff needing to shield which has put added pressure on to the service.

Properties/ 
Building

Sheltered Communal areas- We have temporarily closed all communal areas in Sheltered Schemes to protect our tenants and reduce the risk of potentially spreading the virus.  

Rough Sleepers- Covid-19 has also impacted on the Housing Needs Team who have provided emergency accommodation to rough sleepers, including those where ordinarily we would not have a duty to 
accommodate because they do not have recourse to public funds or are not assessed as having a priority need.  Initially we provided accommodation for residents of the winter night shelter when it closed 
prematurely on 22 March 2020.

On 26 March we were requested by Dame Louise Casey to close all communal night –shelters and street encampments and offer accommodation to rough sleepers accessing these facilities to prevent the 
spread of coronavirus.  Her ‘Everyone In’ request required us to accommodate all known rough sleepers by 30 March.  By this date we had placed 23 people in temporary accommodation, including 4 rough 
sleepers identified during an early morning street count on 24 March.  Currently, there are 28 former rough sleepers in temporary accommodation, including 24 single people and 2 couples.

Homelessness/ Temporary Accommodation- all housing possession actions have been suspended for 3 months, which has led to a reduction in the number of customers threatened with homelessness as a 
result of their private sector tenancy coming to an end.  However, the number of families experiencing tensions as a result of the lockdown has seen an increase in the number of people contacting us due to 
family breakdown and domestic abuse, and this in turn has seen an increase in our homelessness prevention actions. The number of people in temporary accommodation as a result of homelessness has 
remained fairly static since lockdown began, other than the initial spike at the end of March due to the need to accommodate rough sleepers.

Housing 
Needs/ 
Private 
Sector 
Housing

Disabled facilities Grant/ Fuel Poverty- Due to Occupational therapy and Agents not being able to carry out visits for essential assessments and processing of grant applications has meant delay in delivering 
key adaptions which affect the health of our residents.  We are working very closely on each client referral with partners including contractors to try and find ways to provide those key adaptations.  Delivering 
heating measures for fuel-poor households has also been delayed due to restrictions from Covid- 19.

P
age 37



P
age 38



C V  35 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

C V  36 % of emergency jobs completed on time

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Page  1  of  3

H O U S I N G 
H O U S I N G   S E R V I C E S   C O M M I T T E E 

Daniel Killian

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

70%

80%

90%

100%

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

70%

80%

90%

100%

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

P
age 39



C V  37 Total void council properties - repairs

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

33 29 28 25 25 25 25 26 22

C V  38 Total void council properties - allocations

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

16 21 26 31 32 31 33 27 31

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Page  2  of  3

H O U S I N G   S E R V I C E S   C O M M I T T E E 

10

20

30

40

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

10

20

30

40

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

P
age 40



C V  39 Total approaches for homelessness assistance 

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

26 34 55 23 15 24 15 25 39

C V  40 Total homeless households in 'other'  accommodation (inc. rough sleepers)

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

2 23 37 41 39 33 26 27 28

O U T T U R N

H O U S I N G   S E R V I C E S   C O M M I T T E E 

Page  3  of  3

O U T T U R N

10

15

20

25

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

0

20

40

60

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

10

15

20

25

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

20

35

50

65

1

0

20

40

60

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  
Rt Hon Christopher Pincher MP  
Minister of State for Housing  
 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government  
Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street London  
SW1P 4DF 
 
Tel: 0303 444 3430 
email: christopher.pincher@communities.gov.uk 
 
www.gov.uk/mhclg 
 

 Date: 18 May 2020 
 

 
To all social housing residents in England, 
 
I am writing to you today following the Prime Minister’s announcement on 10 May to 
update you on the steps that the Government is taking to reopen society and support 
you and your family to move on with your lives. The safety, security and wellbeing of 
all social housing residents is a key priority for both Government and social 
landlords. This letter brings together the advice and support that we have put in 
place at this time. 
 
Keeping you safe 
 
Maintenance and Repairs 
You should have a decent, warm and safe place to live. Many landlords have had to 
prioritise the repairs they provide. As we start to ease lockdown measures, landlords 
should be able to carry out routine as well as essential repairs for most households. 
There will be a backlog of repairs that they will need to address, so it may take 
longer than normal to carry out more non-essential work. However, please still 
contact your landlord if you think they need to carry out a repair. Operatives entering 
your home should notify you in advance of arrival, maintain a safe distance and 
follow hygiene procedures, as set out in this guidance: Working safely during 
coronavirus (COVID-19)  
 
No work should be carried out in any household which is isolating or where an 
individual is being shielded, unless it is to remedy a direct risk. In such a case, prior 
arrangements should be made to avoid any face to face contact, for example when 
answering the door. The operative should be up to date with the latest guidance on 
how to work safely.  
 
External maintenance and services  
We are expecting many landlords to resume external planned maintenance works 
and services. Operatives carrying out this work should adhere to the Working safely 
during coronavirus (COVID-19) guidance to ensure any such work may be carried 
out safely. 
 

Page 43

mailto:christopher.pincher@communities.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/homes#homes-3-3
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/homes#homes-3-3
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/homes#homes-3-3
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/homes#homes-3-3


Internal planned maintenance will only take place in homes where residents are not 
shielding or self-isolating.  
 
Your landlord may also carry out maintenance and repairs in empty properties, so 
that they can be re-let to new tenants. The operatives will be responsible for 
ensuring that this work is done safely.  
 
Gas safety checks 
Every year, people die and are seriously injured by poorly maintained gas 
appliances. Landlords should make every effort to abide by statutory safety 
obligations, such as annual gas safety inspections, particularly as people are 
spending most of their time at home.  
 
If you are self-isolating, you should inform your landlord who will rearrange the gas 
safety check to take place after your isolation has ended.   
 
If you are shielding, your landlord will balance the risk presented taking into account 
factors such as the age and type of appliance, previous maintenance history and 
date of the last gas check. In some situations, this might indicate that the gas safety 
inspection should still go ahead. In such a case, prior arrangements should be made 
to avoid any face to face contact, for example when answering the door. The 
operative should be up to date with the latest guidance on how to work safely. 
 
If you smell gas, or if you have concerns about the safety of your appliances, you 
should call the gas emergency service provider on 0800 111 999, and switch off 
appliances until the gas emergency supplier, or a registered gas engineer, has 
attended and advised that the appliances are safe to use. 
 
Building safety 
We are clear that making buildings safe, including remediating high-rise buildings 
with unsafe cladding or insufficient fire safety measures, remains a top priority for the 
Government. You can find more information on building safety here: Remediation 
and COVID-19: Building Safety update 
 
For tenants seeking to move home 
The Government has made changes to legislation to make clear that people who 
wish to move home can do so and has published advice on home moving during the 
coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak that provides important public health information to 
ensure that moving home and key activities around this can happen safely.   
 
This change will apply to tenants who are seeking to transfer, move into alternative 
accommodation in the private rented sector, or mutually exchange. You are strongly 
encouraged to read the guidance if you are considering moving home during this 
time. The process of finding and moving into a new home will need to be different, 
those involved in the process will have to adapt in ways to ensure that the risk of 
spreading coronavirus is reduced as far as possible. This is particularly important for 
those who are shielding. If you have any questions about the guidance or how it 
applies to you, you are encouraged to speak with your landlord. 
 
 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/remediation-and-covid-19-building-safety-update-27-march-2020
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/remediation-and-covid-19-building-safety-update-27-march-2020
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/government-advice-on-home-moving-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-outbreak
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/government-advice-on-home-moving-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-outbreak


Supporting you  
 
Support for existing renters 
During this period, you should continue to pay rent and abide by all other terms of 
your tenancy agreement to the best of your ability. If you have trouble paying your 
rent, you should speak to your landlord as soon as possible. The Government has a 
strong package of financial support available and you can find more information on 
this here: COVID-19: guidance for employees  
 
The Government took early steps to introduce legislation to require landlords to give 
three months’ notice of their intention to seek possession of a property (serve notice 
that they want to end the tenancy). This means that it will be three months before a 
landlord can apply to the court to proceed with any possession action. This 
legislation currently applies to all notices issued between the dates of 26 March 2020 
and 30 September 2020 inclusive (although this period can be extended if needed).  
 
In addition, the courts have suspended ongoing housing possession claims from 
progressing for 90 days from 27 March, meaning that cases currently in the system 
or any cases about to go into it cannot progress to the stage where someone could 
be evicted. The suspension applies to all housing possessions proceedings in the 
rented and leasehold sectors. We are also strongly advising landlords not to issue 
new notices seeking possession during this challenging time without a very good 
reason to do so. You can find more information for tenants here: Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) Guidance for Landlords and Tenants 
 
Local Council Tax Support  
The Government has provided councils in England with £500 million of new grant 
funding to support economically vulnerable people and households in their local 
area. The majority of this fund will be used to provide working-age Local Council Tax 
Support claimants with a further discount in their Council Tax bill. Please contact 
your local council to find out if you are eligible for this additional support. You can 
find out more information on the new hardship fund here: Council tax: COVID-19 
hardship fund 2020 to 2021 - guidance 
 
Wellbeing 
The coronavirus outbreak has had an effect on everyone’s daily lives. These guides 
provide advice on how to look after your mental health and wellbeing: Guidance for 
the public on the mental health and wellbeing aspects of coronavirus (COVID-19) 
 
You can find more information on supporting children and young people here: 
COVID-19: guidance on supporting children and young people’s mental health and 
wellbeing 
 
The Government is determined that for those staying home to stay safe does not 
need to lead to loneliness. We have outlined our plan to tackle loneliness and you 
can find more information here: Government launches plan to tackle loneliness 
during coronavirus lockdown 
 
If you are feeling lonely or isolated there are a number of organisations that you can 
talk to. You can find more information here: Let’s Talk Loneliness 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-to-employers-and-businesses-about-covid-19/covid-19-guidance-for-employees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-to-employers-and-businesses-about-covid-19/covid-19-guidance-for-employees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-and-renting-guidance-for-landlords-tenants-and-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-and-renting-guidance-for-landlords-tenants-and-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council-tax-covid-19-hardship-fund-2020-to-2021-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council-tax-covid-19-hardship-fund-2020-to-2021-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-public-on-mental-health-and-wellbeing/guidance-for-the-public-on-the-mental-health-and-wellbeing-aspects-of-coronavirus-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-public-on-mental-health-and-wellbeing/guidance-for-the-public-on-the-mental-health-and-wellbeing-aspects-of-coronavirus-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-on-supporting-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-and-wellbeing
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-on-supporting-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-and-wellbeing
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-launches-plan-to-tackle-loneliness-during-coronavirus-lockdown
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-launches-plan-to-tackle-loneliness-during-coronavirus-lockdown
https://letstalkloneliness.co.uk/advice/


Support for extremely vulnerable people  
Around 2.2 million people in England with underlying severe health conditions who 
must be protected, have been asked to stay at home. People in this group are able 
to register for a regular food box delivery online or via the dedicated hotline. 
Instructions on how to do this have been sent to the individual in a letter from the 
NHS. If you or a member of your family falls into this group, you can register for 
support here: Get coronavirus support as a clinically extremely vulnerable person 
 
Anti-social behaviour 
Social landlords, the police and councils have a significant range of powers to tackle 
anti-social behaviour. In response to the coronavirus outbreak all possession cases 
before the courts, including possession action against tenants for anti-social 
behaviour, has been suspended for three months. Your landlord can still support you 
if you are suffering from anti-social behaviour. Please contact your landlord for 
assistance if you are concerned. You can also contact your local council’s 
community safety team for advice and support. 
 
Support for victims of domestic abuse  
The Government acknowledges that staying at home can cause anxiety for those 
who are experiencing or feel at risk of domestic abuse. For anyone who is or feels 
they are at risk of abuse, it is important to remember that there is help and support 
available to you, including police response, online support, helplines, refuges and 
other services. The household isolation instruction as a result of coronavirus does 
not apply if you need to leave your home to escape domestic abuse. You can find 
further information here: Coronavirus (COVID-19): support for victims of domestic 
abuse 
 
Further advice on coronavirus 
The Government’s advice on coronavirus is available in one place, covering a range 
of topics including protecting yourself and others from coronavirus, and work, 
financial support and money. You can find out more information here: Coronavirus 
(COVID-19): what you need to do 
 
You can also find more general information here: Find out what you can do if you’re 
struggling because of coronavirus (COVID-19) 
 
The Government has set out its plan to return life to as near normal as we can, for as 
many people as we can, as quickly and fairly as possible in order to safeguard 
livelihoods, but in a way that is safe and continues to protect our NHS. You can find 
more information on the Government’s plan here: Our plan to rebuild: The UK 
Government’s COVID-19 recovery strategy 
 
Please stay alert, control the virus and save lives. 
 
 

 
RT HON CHRISTOPHER PINCHER MP 

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus-extremely-vulnerable
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-and-domestic-abuse/coronavirus-covid-19-support-for-victims-of-domestic-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-and-domestic-abuse/coronavirus-covid-19-support-for-victims-of-domestic-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus
https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus
https://www.gov.uk/find-coronavirus-support
https://www.gov.uk/find-coronavirus-support
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/our-plan-to-rebuild-the-uk-governments-covid-19-recovery-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/our-plan-to-rebuild-the-uk-governments-covid-19-recovery-strategy

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 - Update
	6 Temporary Accommodation Update
	7 Out of Borough Placements
	8 Coronavirus: Cabinet Portfolio Impact
	Appendix 2 Practical Impact of Covid-19
	Appendix 3 COVID-19 Indicators - Housing Services
	Appendix 4 Covid19 Letter to social housing residents


